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Facility No. 166 is associated with the build up of naval facilities on Ford 
Island in the early 1940s. It is a unique building type at the installation. 
Facility No. 166 is in a grouping of buildings that were support facilities for 
the aircraft carriers which docked on the west side of Ford Island. It is a 
contributing property to the Pearl Harbor National Historic Landmark. 

Facility No. 166 is located next to the two-story Facility No. 167, near the 
L-shaped wooden warehouse, Facility No. 184, and across Wasp 
Boulevard from Facility No. 130, a hangar. It is isolated from these larger 
buildings by roads and driveways, whose layouts create a small grassy 
triangle on its northeast side. There is also a grass strip on the southwest 
side. A few bushes and trees are planted around the building. An 
antenna, supported by a metal frame of triangular trusses and secured 
with guy wires, is located on the northeast side of the building. 

Facility No. 166 is a single-story building of reinforced concrete with a 
concrete slab-on-grade floor and a wood-framed flat roof. The building is 
generally rectangular in plan, but with a small wing at one corner and a 
projecting entry at one end. The footprint of the main portion measures 
88'-6" x 33'-8". The eaves of this main section are about 11' above grade 
and overhang all sides of the building by 4'-0". The eaves on the long 
sides of the building are supported by exposed beams, each composed of 
two pieces of 3x10 lumber. The bottom surfaces of these beams taper 
upwards from the walls towards their ends. The beam ends are capped, 
obscuring the paired lumber structure. The beams are evenly spaced, 
about 11' between each, except at the end bays there is only about 7' 
between beams. 
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The windows in the main portion of Facility No. 166 are only on the long 
sides, in bands just below the eaves. All were originally metal-frame 
hopper windows, typically with eight lights per sash. A pair of windows 
was set between each of the columns supporting the roof beams, except 
the narrower end bays had only one window. Several windows have 
been replaced with solid panels in which air conditioning units or louvered 
vents have been inserted. 

There is an off-center entry door on the southeast end of Facility No. 166, 
along Wasp Boulevard. An orthogonal design is incised into the concrete 
at its sides. This design consists of three squares (each approximately 
1'-10") stacked vertically on a horizontal rectangle (about 2'-6" wide by 1' 
high). The tops of the uppermost squares are level with the top of the 
entry door. Adjacent to this doorway, on the southwest side, is a 
rectangular planting box (measuring about 5' x 8') surrounded by a low 
concrete wall, approximately 1' high. 

Centered on the northwest end of Facility 166 is an entry foyer, 
measuring about 12' x 6', which projects from the main portion of the 
building. The roof of this foyer is flat, with minimal eaves about 7'-6" 
above grade. There is now one door on the northeast side of the 
northwest wall of the projection, but the 1966 floor plan and traces of a 
former opening on the wall indicate that there were two adjacent doors 
here previously. The two light fixtures on this wall are also evidence of 
the dual entries here. The hanging metal cage with glass cylinder 
remains on one of the light fixtures, while the other retains only its top and 
a bare bulb. A small wood deck with wood railing has recently been built 
on the northeast side of this projecting foyer. 

A wood-framed wing, measuring 26'-0" x 17'-8", projects at a right angle 
from the east corner (southeast end of the northeast side) of the main 
section. This wing has a low flat roof with minimal eaves. This roof abuts 
the main section at the bottom of the window band (about 7'-6" above 
grade). This originally open-sided wing has been entirely enclosed. The 
two small window openings, seen in the photos of the northwest side of 
the wing, have recently been covered up. 

The interior of Facility 166 is divided into numerous rooms, with a wall 
along the centerline of the long axis. Most rooms are used as offices and 
have suspended ceilings. The large room at the north corner of the 
building is open to the roof sheathing of tongue and groove boards. The 
paired roof beams in this area are covered with gypsum board or other 
material to create a box beam look. The interior flooring is vinyl 
composition tiles. 
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Historical Context: Refer to HASS No. Hl-382 for a discussion of Ford Island's history, and to 
HABS No. Hl-394 for more information on the Aircraft Carrier Support 
Facilities on the northwest side of the island. HABS No. Hl-489 
documents a decontamination station (Facility No. 44) in the Shipyard 
and HASS No. Hl-423 records a casualty station (Facility No. 216) at the 
Naval Station, which also had decontamination rooms. The designs of 
these two buildings differed from Facility No. 166 but their functions were 
similar. 

No original drawings for Facility No. 166 were located at the Plan Files of 
the Pearl Harbor Public Works Center or Naval Facilities Engineering 
Command, Pacific. One 1941 photo of the building was found at the 
National Archives II. That photo, dated October 2, 1941, was labeled 
"Completion View"; but a report by the builders lists Facility No. 166 as 
completed in December 1941 (Contractors Pacific Naval Air Bases, n.d.: 
A-562). Although this building may have been completed before the 
Japanese attack on December 7, 1941, no specific mention of it was 
found in any of the air raid attack report memos. It was designed as a 
first aid and decontamination building, but perhaps there were no supplies 
or furniture in it at that date. It shows foresight that such a building was 
planned for this side of Ford Island before the attack. During the attack, 
however, the new Bachelor Officers' Quarters (8.0.Q. or Facility No. 78) 
was apparently the main first-aid station on this side of the island. A 
Commander in the Medical Department reported: 

A number of branch dressing stations were established 
about the [air] station and performed efficient work during 
the day and for several days thereafter. The chief one of 
which was the new 8.0.Q. building (Iverson 1941 ). 

Another "dressing station" for officers and men of the USS Utah was 
established in the "quarters of Lieutenant W.C.G. Church" (Black 1941 ). 
This may have been one of the houses in the row (Facility Nos. 105-120) 
nearest that ship. 

Facility No. 166 was part of a group of buildings that were constructed in 
the early 1940s on the northwest side of Ford Island, after the Army 
moved their operations from this area to Hickam Field. The few buildings 
left by the Army and the new structures on this side served as support 
facilities for the Navy's aircraft carriers. Facility No. 166 was the first-aid 
and gas decontamination station for personnel in these nearby buildings. 
The ones in the immediate vicinity included an administration building, 
magazines, other types of storage buildings, several aircraft hangars, 
temporary barracks, and mess hall (see the 1942 map included with this 
report). Most of the permanent 1940s buildings on this side of Ford 
Island remain; in addition to Facility No. 166, these are Facility Nos. 167, 
S168, S169, 170, 171, S172, 175, and 176. One temporary wood-frame 
storehouse, Facility No. 184, is also standing. Three earlier Army 
hangars (Facility Nos. 130, 133, and 17 4) and Battery Boyd (Facility No. 
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S145) are also extant. This grouping of historic facilities at Pearl Harbor 
has high integrity. 

Facility No. 166 is the only known structure built at Pearl Harbor with this 
design and with the designation as a "First Aid and Decontamination 
Building." Only one other building in Hawaii with "First Aid" in its name 
was listed in the Navy's 1945 building inventory (U.S. Navy, Bureau of 
Yards and Docks 1945: 1025). That was the "First Aid and Office 
Building" at the Naval Supply Depot at Pier 31 in the lwilei area of 
Honolulu. No Navy facilities remain there, since Navy use of the property 
ceased soon after WWII. There were seventeen other buildings on 
various Oahu Navy installations in that 1945 listing with "decontamination" 
in their name, but only Facility No. 166 on Ford Island and No. 44 in the 
Shipyard remain. The basic purpose of the decontamination stations was 
a place for persons exposed to a gas attack to remove clothing, shower, 
and to obtain fresh clothes. The 1945 listing shows the decontamination 
buildings were constructed with a variety of dimensions and materials. 
Maps from the 1940s show they had various footprint shapes. Only one 
other decontamination building was listed with a 1941 date -- Facility 16 
at Bishop Point. However, Facility 16 is not shown on a 1942 map of the 
area and the 1947 map of Bishop Point shows that building was 
demolished soon after the war (Fourteenth Naval District 1942 and 194 7). 
All the other decontamination buildings were built in 1942 or 1943, 
apparently in response to the December 7, 1941 attack. Although the 
majority of the decontamination stations were designated as permanent 
construction, most were demolished within a few years after the end of 
World War 11. 

In addition to the single-purpose decontamination stations, the casualty 
stations at Pearl Harbor typically incorporated gas decontamination 
rooms. The dual functions of Facility No. 166 were similar to these 
buildings. There are seven extant casualty stations at the installation: 
Facility Nos. 207 and 213 at the Shipyard, Nos. 210 and 216 at Naval 
Station, No. 212 at Marine Barracks, No. 681 at Submarine Base, and 
No. 43 at West Loch. These have been adapted for various functions. 

The specific history of this building in terms of physical changes is not 
well documented. No original drawings have been found for this building; 
and only one 1962 sheet with one elevation and roof plan, and a 1966 
sketch floor plan have been located. These are reproduced in the report. 
The 1962 elevation shows the wing in the east corner was still an open­
sided carport, as it was in the 1941 photo of the building. Siding was 
added sometime after 1962. The carport apparently was enclosed to 
increase storage space. The 1953 map of Ford Island lists the building's 
function as a general storehouse (Naval Air Station 1953). The Naval Air 
Station (NAS) on Ford Island was in Maintenance Status at that date, and 
the NAS was decommissioned in March 1962. The 1966 Navy building 
inventory indicates that the storage function continued (listed as ready 
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Sources: 

issue warehouse) and notes use of the building by the U.S. Army (U.S. 
Navy, Department of Yards and Docks 1966: 4933). However, the 1966 
floor plan sketch shows the Army converted it to administrative offices 
soon after obtaining use of the building, and this function has continued 
for several decades. 

Only two microfiche cards of architectural drawings for this building were 
located at the Plan Files of the Public Works Center, Hawaii. Both date 
from the 1960s and are reproduced in this report. Facility No. 166's floor 
plan only occupied a small portion of the 1966 drawing. 

Black, Richard (Lieutenant) 
1941 Memorandum report from Intelligence Field Unit officer to 

Naval Air Station Commanding Officer, dated 16 December, 
1941. Subject: Air Raid Attack by Japanese, Personal Report 
of. In binder of reports provided by Jeffrey Dodge, Naval 
Facilities Engineering Command, Hawaii. 

Contractors Pacific Naval Air Bases 
n.d. Technical Report and Project History, Contracts NOy-3550 

and NOy-4173 on microfiche at library of Naval Facilities 
Engineering Command, Pacific. 

Fourteenth Naval District 
1942 Bishop Point, Oahu, T.H., Naval Reservation, Showing 

Conditions on June 30, 1942. Drawing No. OA-N1-534, in 
Fourteenth Naval District map book at Naval Facilities 
Engineering Command Archives, Port Hueneme, California. 

1947 Bishop Point, Oahu, T.H., Showing Conditions on June 30, 
1947. Drawing No. OA-N1-1631, on microfilm Roll R-1094, 
Frame 319, at National Archives II, College Park, Maryland. 

Iverson, Louis (Commander) 
1941 Memorandum report from Medical Corps officer to Naval Air 

Station Commanding Officer, dated December 15, 1941, 
regarding December 7 Japanese Air Raid. In binder of reports 
provided by Jeffrey Dodge, Naval Facilities Engineering 
Command, Hawaii. 

Naval Air Station, Pearl Harbor 
1942 Ford Island, Conditions as of June 1, 1942. Drawing No. 509. 

Provided by Jeffrey Dodge, Naval Facilities Engineering 
Command, Hawaii. 
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1953 Ford Island, Pearl Harbor, T.H., Showing Conditions as of 
June 30, 1953. Drawing No. 551272. On microfiche cards in 
Plan Files of Naval Facilities Engineering Command, Pacific. 

U.S. Navy, Bureau of Yards and Docks 
1945 Public Works of the Navy Data Book: Buildings, NA VDOCKS 

P-164. July 1945 Edition. Copy provided by Jeffrey Dodge, 
Naval Facilities Engineering Command, Hawaii. 

1966 Detailed Inventory of Naval Shore Facilities - Real Property 
Data, NAVDOCKS P-164. Section for Station CNO, Pearl 
Harbor Hawaii. In library of Naval Facilities Engineering 
Command, Pacific. 

Project Information: Commander Navy Region (COMNAVREG) Hawaii has embarked on a 
program of documentation of historic properties within its area of 
responsibility, with the goal of recording historic information about each 
property and establishing its context of significance. This information will 
assist COMNAVREG Hawaii in the appropriate management of these 
properties, be it routine repair and maintenance for continuing use, 
rehabilitation for continuing use I adaptive reuse, or demolition. At this 
time, specific action that may affect this facility has not been determined. 
This report was prepared under a Historic Preservation Services contract 
(N62742-97-D-3502) awarded to AMEC Earth and Environmental, the 
prime contractor, by the U.S. Navy, Naval Facilities Engineering 
Command. The contract was funded through the Cultural Resources 
Program of COMNAVREG Hawaii. The photographic documentation was 
undertaken by David Franzen, of Franzen Photography. Location maps 
were made by Nestor Beltran of NAB Graphics. Between 1999 and 2001, 
the field work was done and the draft of this report was written by Dot 
Dye, AMEC Earth & Environmental, Inc. The report was rewritten in 2005 
by Mason Architects, Inc. 

Prepared by: Mason Architects, Inc. 
119 Merchant St., Suite 501 
Honolulu, HI 96813 

Date of Final Report: October 2005 

AMEC Earth & Environmental, Inc. 
3375 Koapaka Street, Suite F251 
Honolulu, HI 96819 
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Historic map showing the aircraft carrier support area 
Portion of Drawing No. 509, dated June 1, 1942 (no scale) 
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Portion of Drawing No. 1104093, dated February 8, 1966 
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Drawing No. 956840, dated November 14, 1962 
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1941 Photo (National Archives II, in RG 71-CA, folder 152C) 
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